

#### **The Regional Facilitation Center**

**DACUM Facilitators:** 

Debra Buffalo-Boy, CADC II, CRM & Jerrod Murray, CADC I

#### **DACUM Workgroup**

The staff of Painted Horse Community Recovery Center

#### **Editors**

Beau Rappaport, B.A., PSS
Debbie Borgelt, CRM, CADC II
Terry Leckron Myers, CRM
Tony Vezina, BSW, CRM II, PSS
Kristi McKinney, M.S., CADC III, QMHP-C

# Native American SUD Peer Best Practices

#### **The Regional Facilitation Center**

#### **DACUM Facilitators:**

Debra Buffalo-Boy, CADC II, CRM & Jerrod Murray, CADC I

#### **DACUM Workgroup**

The staff of Painted Horse Community Recovery Center

#### **Editors**

Beau Rappaport, B.A., PSS
Debbie Borgelt, CRM, CADC II
Terry Leckron Myers, CRM
Tony Vezina, BSW, CRM II, PSS
Kristi McKinney, M.S., CADC III, QMHP-C

#### Introduction

Very little has been authored on the subject of Native American SUD Peer Best Practices. This DACUM analysis was produced through a series of investigative protocols, including: a review of the literature, DACUM workgroup, quantitative peer and supervisor validation survey, and a managerial and administrative validation review.

This best practice analysis is specifically designed for training purposes. Competencies with specific KSA's (knowledge, skills and attitudes) are described in checkboxes for classroom participant self-assessment.

This summary of peer best practices, is largely adapted from the <u>Behavioral</u>
<u>Health Services for American Indians and</u>
<u>Alaska Natives</u>, Treatment Improvement
Protocol (TIP) Series 61. HHS Publication
No. (SMA) 185070EXSUMM, 2018.

#### **Classroom Directions**

This text is designed for in-class training.

- 1. Review and discuss a competency.
- Ask each participant to complete the associated self-assessment check box. The self-assessment check box can also be used as an "agency self-assessment" check box.
- In groups have participants discuss their strengths and areas of needed improvement based on their selfassessment.
- Facilitate a class discussion around the insights individuals gained through their self-assessment and group discussions.
- 5. Move forward to the next competency and repeat the process.

#### Methodology

- Stage One: Systematic Review of the
  Literature. We identified 35 documents,
  manuals, credentialing standards, curriculum
  outlines, etc. specific to and related to the
  Native American peer delivered services. This
  included Behavioral Health Services for
  American Indians and Alaska Natives,
  Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series
  61. HHS Publication No. (SMA)
  185070EXSUMM, 2018. We identified 10
  common practices which were then ranked by
  frequency of identification within the
  literature. (Appendix #1)
- Stage Two: DACUM Subject Matter Experts
  (SME). The SME were assembled from
  experienced Native American peers, all of
  whom are in long-term recovery from a
  substance use disorder. The workgroup
  analyzed the systematic review and generated
  best practices, edited language, and
  developed organizational storyboard
  attributes to each best practice.
- 3. Stage Three: Quantitative Peer & Supervisor Likert Validation Surveys. The SME developed survey questions for peers and supervisors regarding competencies. Seven peers and supervisors completed the Likert survey and feedback portion of the validation survey, with subsequent edits to competencies/task based on results (mean, median, variance, confidence intervals, margins of error and standard deviation). (Appendix #2)
- Stage Four: Qualitative Managerial &
   Administrative Validation. Draft document
   was distributed for validation through
   managerial and administrative review, with
   subsequent edits to competencies based on
   results.
- Stage Five: DACUM Curriculum. Final edits to the Native American SUD Peer Best Practices were produced by the SME and curriculum assessment grids were produced for training and evaluation purposes.

## Systematic Literature Review and DACUM Workgroup

## DACUM Lead Facilitator: Debra Buffalo-Boy, CADC II, CRM

- Director, Multicultural Consultants
- Vice-President, Mental Health and Addiction Certification Board of Oregon
- Technical Assistance Consultant, MetroPlus Association of Addiction Peer Professionals & Coimagine

#### DACUM Facilitator: Jerrod Murray, CADC I

 Executive Director, Painted Horse Community Recovery Center

### Staff of Painted Horse Community Recovery Center

#### **Editors**

Beau Rappaport, B.A., PSS
Debbie Borgelt, CRM, CADC II
Terry Leckron Myers, CRM
Tony Vezina, BSW, CRM II, PSS
Kristi McKinney, M.S., CADC III, QMHP-C

This Competency Analysis was funded through The Regional Facilitation Center grant from the Oregon Health Authority, Health Services Division.

#### **Recommended Citation:**

Buffalo-Boy, D. & Murray, J. (2022). <u>Native</u>
<u>American SUD Peer Best Practices</u>, The Regional Facilitation Center, Portland, Oregon.

## **Table of Contents**

## Native American SUD 10 Peer Best Practices

- 1. Native Americans value lived-experience and elder wisdom.
- 2. Native Americans value abstinence.
- 3. Culture-based Interventions (CBI) and Culturally-adapted Best Practices are the most effective.
- 4. Peers practice culturally-adapted peer support, communication & Motivational Interviewing
- 5. Peers are cognizant of their own cultural history and traditions and avoid cultural appropriation
- 6. Peers practice Trauma-Informed services and are cognizant of the Indigenous Holocaust
- 7. Peers recognize the inherent continuum of Native American Recovery & Prevention
- 8. Peers recognize that Native Americans are not homogenous
- Peers understand the unique challenges of Urban Native Americans different from rural or sovereign nation tribal residents
- 10.Peers recognize shared Native American Values, Peer Values and Sovereignty

### **Native American SUD Peer Best Practices**

#### Native Americans value Lived-Experience and Elder Wisdom

"Lived-experience" is a traditional Native American value held in esteem often more than academic experience. Native Americans strongly value livedexperience and elder wisdom derived from real life challenges and experience.

Peer-based "lived-experience" interventions in native communities date back to the 1730s with abstinence-based movements and the formation of recovery oriented "talking circles" supporting abstinence from alcohol. Arguably, while mental health peer endeavors date back to the 1700s as well, Native Americans may have been the first to develop organized peer recovery from substance use disorders.

The term elder does not necessarily apply to all older native adults. The term elder is applied to those who have been identified as "keepers of tradition" who make concerted efforts towards the wellbeing of native communities and carrying on tradition, history, culture and language. In dominant culture communities of recovery, elders are typically individuals in recovery from an SUD with a significant amount of abstinence time who are also deemed to have "a good program". In Native communities, elders who offer guidance and support for recovery are not necessarily in recovery from a substance use disorder themselves. Nonetheless they are an important part of Native American recovery. They offer lived-experience as a peer in recovery from multigenerational racism, trauma and oppression.

Dominant culture recovery	Native Recovery	
Values "lived-experience" and	Values "lived-experience" shared in an oral	
knowledge of recovery literature	tradition	
"bible thumpers"		
Values "old timers" in recovery from	Values native elders who may or may not	
a substance use disorder who are	be in recovery from a substance use	
held in esteem for having "a good	disorder themselves, but are keepers of	
recovery program"	tradition	

Pee	er Best Practice Checklist					
	Peers understand the value of both lived-experience and elder wisdom among					
	many Native Americans.					
	Peers honor the history of Native Americans as originators of substance use disorder peer recovery and "talking circles", more than a century before peer support programs like the Washingtonians, Red Ribbon societies, and Alcoholics Anonymous.					
	Peers understand the Native American value of "elder wisdom", and the role of elders within the Native community. Peers recognize the importance of Native elders in the recovery process even if those elders are not in recovery from a substance use disorder themselves.					

#### Native Americans Value Abstinence

In general, Native Americans more strongly value abstinence as a solution to alcohol and drug problems compared to other racial/ethnic groups.

Studies show, within the general population, that Native Americans:

- have higher proportions of abstinent individuals compared to the general population and are less likely to drink than white Americans,
- are more likely to endorse abstinence as a solution for alcohol or drug problems,
- o and have higher rates of abstinence at the beginning of SUD services compared to individuals of other races and ethnicities.

Subsequently, great sensitivity must be used in promoting harm reduction practices to Native American individuals. Culturally appropriate methods must be used, as many Native Americans view the use of non-indigenous substances as a form of and an effect of colonization. This value among Native Americans can present a challenge regarding medication assisted treatment or other harm reduction practices. Assertive or aggressive attempts to persuade Native American individuals to participate in harm reduction practices could be viewed as manipulation or an extension of colonization, and continued homogenization of native communities. While Native Americans value abstinence from dominant culture non-indigenous substances, some maintain traditional use of sacred natural tobacco, peyote and mushrooms. It important for peers to comprehend the low addictive liability of these substances and the role that these substances have in Native American spiritual ceremonies, spirituality, and beliefs. Very few people develop "addiction" to peyote or mushrooms and natives rarely use them outside of ceremonies. Moreover, commercial tobacco is very different than natural tobacco used in Native ceremonies. The FBI, FDA and Department of Justice have all investigated commercial tobacco companies for their efforts to enhance the addictive liability of tobacco through hybridization, genetic modification (Y-1 strain), and chemical additives, such as ammonia to increase rapid absorption of nicotine into the brain. These real-life facts, that involved Jeffrey Wigand, a biochemist for Brown & Williamson tobacco company were highlighted in the film *The Insider*. Arguably, traditional Native American ceremonial substances have a low addictive liability and should not be included in the same category as dominant culture non-indigenous addictive substances (i.e.: commercial tobacco, alcohol, methamphetamine, amphetamine, processed opiates, synthetic opioids, benzodiazepines, etc.).

Pee	Peer Best Practice Checklist					
	Peers understand and honor Native American values regarding abstinence as					
	a solution to alcohol and drug problems.					
	Peers understand and honor Native American beliefs regarding dominant					
	culture non-indigenous substances as a form of and effect of colonization, and					
	recognize the importance of sacred natural tobacco, peyote and mushrooms					
	in Native American spiritual beliefs and ceremonies.					
	Peers offer culturally specific information regarding harm reduction practices					
	and Medication Assisted Treatment without assertive, aggressive,					
	manipulative or judgmental persuasion. Peers educate clients regarding					
	culturally specific data regarding use and overdose.					

### Culture-based Interventions (CBI) and Culturally-adapted Best Practices are the most effective.

Research shows that culture-based interventions, practice-based evidence and culturally-adapted evidence-based practices are more effective than non-adapted dominant culture evidence-based best practices alone.

Culture-based interventions (CBI) and successfully adapted dominant culture interventions, include, but are not limited to:

- Cultural practices: Drumming, Beading, Native American traditional and ceremonial food.
- Peer supported Connection and/or Reconnection Post-assimilation, through cultural advocacy, history and language.
- Addressing intergenerational unresolved grief and collective trauma.
- Family involvement, spirituality, ceremony, and use of the medicine wheel.
- Culturally adapted 12-step self-help such as Wellbriety
- Culturally specific peer training, such as White Bison Firestarters
- Culturally specific sober activities with a greater focus on ceremony and youth/family prevention
- Red Road Approach
- Culturally adapted Motivational Interviewing
- Environments that reflect Native American and Alaskan Native culture is more engaging for, and shows respect to, clients who identify with this culture.

Native Americans are not averse to behavioral health services, especially culturally specific services. Native Americans use behavioral health services at a rate second only to white Americans; they may be even more likely to seek SUD treatment and recovery services while simultaneously being less likely to be able to access those services. Healthcare disparities in general have led to poorer health outcomes among Native Americans compared to the general population.

- Peers avoid the use of diagnostic terminology with Native American clients. The
  process of "naming" can have significant spiritual meaning and may influence
  individual and community beliefs about the expected outcome, this includes labelling
  individuals "addict" or "alcoholic".
- Peers recognize the holistic view of health and behavioral health held by many Native American cultures. Substance use and mental illness are not defined as diseases, diagnoses, or moral maladies, nor are they viewed as physical or character flaws.
   Instead, they are seen as symptoms of imbalance in the individual's relationship with the world. Thus, healing and treatment approaches must be inclusive of all aspects of life—spiritual, emotional, physical, social, behavioral, and cognitive.

Pee	Peer Best Practice Checklist					
	Peers support, facilitate or refer clients to available Culture-based					
	Interventions: Ceremonies, Rituals, Drumming, Beading, traditional Native					
	American traditional and ceremonial food.					
	Peers support, facilitate or make referrals to post-assimilation cultural					
	connection and reconnection opportunities.					
	Peers support, facilitate or make referrals to Cultural Advocacy					
	opportunities, that may include, traditional practices, history and language					
	as a part of individual and collective recovery.					
	Peers are aware of the legacy of trauma within Native communities and the					
	importance of intergenerational unresolved grief and collective trauma.					
	Peers practice or are aware of local providers of culturally specific best					
	practices and culturally adapted best practices: Medicine Wheel, Red Road					
	to Recovery, White Bison, Wellbriety, and culturally adapted Motivational					
	Interviewing.					
	Peers understand that "sober events" supporting recovery, within Native					
	communities, often include families and children and are blended with					
	community prevention. This differs from most dominant culture "sober					
	activities" that primarily cater to only adults in recovery from SUDs.					
	Peers avoid diagnostic labelling or giving names to disorders.					
	Peers recognize the holistic health beliefs of Native Americans.					

#### **Native American Best Practice Resources**

- www.wellbrietymovement.com
- www.whitebison.org
- www.genredroad.org
- <u>www.attcnetwork.org/centers/content/national-american-indian-and-alaska-native-attc</u>
- www.samhsa.gov/behavioral-health-equity/ai-an
- <u>www.mhttcnetwork.org/centers/national-american-indian-and-alaska-native-mhttc/home</u>
- <u>www.pttcnetwork.org/centers/national-american-indian-alaska-native-pttc/our-mission</u>
- www.childwelfare.gov/topics/systemwide/diversepopulations/americanindian/wellbeing/mentalhealth-communities/
- www.ihs.gov/sasp/resources/

## Peers practice culturally-adapted peer support, communication & Motivational Interviewing

Culturally specific peer support, communication and motivational interviewing techniques encourage Native America mentees to share their stories and thoughts, their own way without intrusive probing questions or over-disclosure.

Culturally-adapted Motivational Interviewing has the most scientific support for use with Native Americans, and has been shown to be the most effective dominant culture adapted approach. Common techniques in Motivational Interviewing such as paraphrasing, reflecting feelings, identifying ambivalence, and affirmations can help build a peer relationship. However, excessive use of open-ended questions, probing questions, or the technique of "developing discrepancy" may feel intrusive to some Native Americans.

Listen and respect silence. Many Native Americans are slow to speak. In some native cultures, being quiet is a way of showing respect. Be patient and avoid attempting to finish your clients' sentences. When you are with a client, interacting with other professionals, avoid patronizing or speaking for or on behalf of a native person in meetings with other professionals unless your support or advocacy was specifically requested. In some Native American cultures, it is disrespectful to hold eye contact. Each individual has their own level of acculturation regarding eye contact. Do not assume because a client looks away that they are not interested, being dishonest or are depressed.

Research has shown that some Native Americans are reluctant to share spiritual beliefs with dominant culture behavioral health professionals. It is important not to immediately assume Native persons are hallucinating or delusional when discussing their spiritual beliefs. Moreover, most Native Americans have spiritual-cultural boundaries where they do not readily share their "Indian names", "medicine" or family lineage.

Expect family involvement with many Native Americans, and family may include extended family, adopted family, spiritual advisors, medicine people and individuals who assume traditional family roles. Racial and ethnic groups that have experienced and survived significant trauma together often have greater community familial bonds that extend beyond their immediate blood relatives. Family can be an excellent motivator for help-seeking and support for recovery, however, as with all families, some family members may be a source of conflict.

Most Native Americans have a sense of humor. Indian humor is a means of addressing and surviving many difficult and painful situations. Native Americans may share humor with each other that others outside the culture cannot understand without having that particular lived-experience.

Peers understand "Indian Time". Sociological research reveals that most Native Americans have two tenses of time vs. dominant culture three tenses of time. Native Americans are sometimes late to appointments this is not the same as missing, cancelling or "no-showing" for appointments. Peers should expect Native American clients to have different beliefs and

practices regarding time. This should not be interpreted as a lack of accountability or low motivation for recovery.

Pee	r Best Practice Checklist				
	Peers practice culturally-adapted peer support, communication skills and				
	culturally-adapted Motivational Interviewing.				
	Peers listen, understand and respect silence.				
	Peers avoid intrusive probing questions or overuse of open-ended question				
	during silences.				
	Peers do not patronize, speak for or on behalf of Native Americans unless				
	their advocacy has been specifically requested.				
	Peers recognize that some Native Americans may be reluctant to share their				
	spiritual beliefs for fear of being either judged or diagnosed (delusional,				
	psychotic, or hallucinating), or violating spiritual-cultural boundaries.				
	Peers understand that racial and ethnic groups that have experienced				
	significant trauma often have expanded definitions of family and survivor				
	bonds with those in their community.				
	Peers build trust by maintaining confidentiality and developing collaborative				
	and caring relationships.				
	Peers recognize that Native Americans have a sense of humors and are aware				
	culturally specific humor may not be completely understood by those not of				
	that culture.				
	Peers understand "Indian Time" vs. cancelling or "no-show" appointments.				
	Peers do not interpret "Indian Time" as a lack of motivation for recovery.				
	Peers are cognizant of their own boundaries, biases and possible				
	microaggressions.				

## Peers are cognizant of their own cultural history and traditions, avoiding cultural appropriation

Peers who are aware of their own cultural backgrounds, will be more likely to acknowledge and explore how culture affects their interactions, particularly their relationships with clients of all backgrounds, and will also be less likely to misappropriate the culture of others.

Peers understand how clients perceive their own cultural identity and how they view the role of traditional customs within peer services. Not all Native American clients recognize the importance of culture or perceive a need for traditional practices in their recovery. Peers must be ready to meet their client's cultural identity and related needs. Through reconnection to Native American communities and traditional healing practices, an individual may reclaim the strengths inherent in traditional teachings, practices, and beliefs and begin to walk in balance and harmony.

Between the 2010 and 2020 U.S. Census the Native American population grew by a staggering 86% as more Americans began to identify themselves as Native American. In 2010, 1.86% of the U.S. population identified as being Native American, in 2020 that percentage grew to 2.94%. In other words, 3,558,600 U.S. residents began identifying themselves as "Native American".

"I've been romanticized through stereotypes far more than overt racism.

I don't know which one is worse." – Native American Elder

Having Native American ancestry does not automatically qualify a person as a member of a Native American nation or tribe. Tribal members are those who are officially enrolled in a tribe or similar entity. Tribes have the right—because they are sovereign nations with their own governments—to decide who is and is not a member. The criterion used most often by tribes is "blood quantum," or documentation that one is descended from historical tribal members. Blood quantum refers to the amount of tribal blood a person possesses as determined by his or her ancestors. In some tribes, a person might be full-blooded Native American but may not meet the requirement for tribal membership, because some ancestors were members of other tribes. Peers can be aware of their own cultural history and traditions without appropriating the culture and traditions of Native Americans. Peers can support clients in their endeavors to connect or reconnect with their culture without adopting the culture of their client.

## Peer Best Practice Checklist ☐ Peers are aware of their own cultural history and traditions. ☐ Peers avoid "romanticizing" or "misappropriating" the culture of others.

## Peers practice Trauma-Informed services and are cognizant of the Indigenous Holocaust

Two major factors have been shown in research to be major antecedents to substance use disorders among Native Americans: 1) Early (ACES) and historical trauma, 2) Early onset substance use.

Peers should learn about, acknowledge, and validate the effects of historical trauma when working with American Indian and Alaska Native clients. Among Native Americans, historical loss is associated with greater risk for substance abuse and depressive symptoms. For hundreds of years and into the present, Native Americans have endured traumatic events resulting from colonization. They and their communities continue to experience repercussions (i.e., historical trauma) from these events. Native American clients experience grief for unique reasons, such as loss of their communities, freedom, land, life, self-determination, traditional cultural and religious practices, and native languages, as well as the removal of children from their families. Suicide and suicide attempts are a significant problem in many Native Americans, especially among young men ages 15–24, who account for nearly 40 percent of all suicide deaths among natives. Native youth have a much higher suicide rate than youth or adults of other races. Suicide rates for Alaska Natives are more than double those for the U.S. population as a whole.

#### The U.S. Indigenous Holocaust

Modern historical estimates regarding the native population (of what is now the United States) prior to 1492 range between 1.8 million to 15 million. We may never know the exact number of indigenous peoples that existed prior to colonization. However, we do know by 1900 the indigenous population of the U.S. dropped to 237,000. It is likely that at the very least, several million Native Americans died as a result of colonization, possibly more. Many Native Americans were killed not only in battles and massacres, but also from disease, starvation and forced relocation. It is estimated there may have been as many as 50 million natives in both North, Central and South America. Some experts have estimated upwards of 95% of the native population was gone by 1900, after colonization of the western hemisphere.

**Significant events in Native American U.S. history and surrounding territories** (Canadian, Central or South American history not withstanding)

1492	Christopher Columbus arrived at a Caribbean Island, believing he was in the				
	East Indies, he referred to the natives as "Indians". On his first day on the				
	island, he seized six natives to be his slaves.				
1539	Hernando de Soto lands in Florida and used natives that he captured as				
	guides (slaves) to explore the south.				
1613	Pocahontas is captured by Captain Samuel Argall in the first Anglo-				
	Powhatan War and she converts to Christianity and is renamed the Judeo-				
	Christian name Rebecca.				
1680	A revolt of Pueblo Native Americans ensues over Spanish rule of what is				
	now New Mexico.				

1754	The French and Indian War (Seven Years' War) begins, France enlisted (uses) Native Americans to fight in France's conflict with British settlements in the north.
1763	In the Battle of Bloody Run, Chief Pontiac's forces fight the British in Detroit.
1785	The Treaty of Hopewell was signed setting up the future U.S. reservation system, as whites took their land.
1791	In just a few short years whites began violating the Treaty of Hopewell and creating white settlements on their land. The Cherokees cried foul and revolted against the new white settlements on their land. As a result, the Treaty of Holston was signed, an ominous prelude to a long line of broken treaties.
1783	After the U.S. victory in the American Revolution and the Treaty of Paris was signed, the British continued to use Native Americans to fight with American settlers.
1794	The Battle of Timbers was the last major conflict between the U.S. and Native Americans. Under the Treaty of Greenville in 1795, the U.S. took control of most of Ohio opening it up for more white settlers.
1811	U.S. forces attack Tecumseh and Lalawethika.
1812	President James Madison signs a Declaration of War against Britain over territorial expansion, further dragging Native Americans into the conflict between the U.S., Britain and France.
1814	U.S. forces attack the Creek Indians and steal 20 million acres of land.
1830	The Indian Removal Act is signed, giving small plots of land west of the Mississippi to Eastern Native American tribes in exchange for all of the land taken by whites. Over the next 8 years, tens of thousands of Native Americans are driven out of the east and forced west to Oklahoma. 3,500 Creek Indians die on the journey, and more than 5,000 Cherokee die on the journey, in what has become known as the Trail of Tears.
1851	Congress passes the Indian Appropriations Act, establishing the modern reservation system. Native Americans are not allowed to leave their reservations without permission from whites.
1860	The U.S. military falsely accuses the Apache leader Cochise of kidnapping a white American. This leads to a decade of skirmishes and subsequent deaths.
1864	At the Sand Creek Massacre, 650 white Colorado volunteer forces attack Cheyenne and Arapaho encampments along Sand Creek killing and mutilating 150 Native Americans, including women and children.
1868	General Custer leads an early morning surprise attack against Cheyenne living with Chief Black Kettle, killing more than 100, including women, children and Chief Black Kettle.
1874	Gold discovered in the South Dakota Black Hills leads U.S. troops to invade, ignoring a treaty and taking control of the land for mining.
1876	In the Battle of Little Bighorn, Custer's Last Stand, the Lakota Sioux and Cheyenne led by Crazy Horse and Sitting Bull defeat U.S. troops leading to tensions, paranoia, and distrust among whites regarding native intentions to keep their land.

1879	Carlisle Indian Industrial School established, the first in a long line of off reservation boarding schools designed to assimilate Native children.					
1890	Sitting Bull is murdered by the police in Grand River, South Dakota.					
1890						
1030	of Ghost Dancers led by Chief Big Foot, 150 natives are killed.					
1918	U.S. Military use Choctaw Indians to relay messages in their native language over airwaves in WWI					
1924	Congress passed the Indian Citizenship Act, granting U.S. citizenship to Native Americans in their own country.					
1942						
1942	U.S. Military use Navajo Indians, "Code talkers" to relay messages in their native language over airwaves in WWII.					
1972						
	west coast and ended at the Department of Interior in Washington D.C.					
	700 Native Americans crossed the U.S. and occupied the Department of the					
	Interior which included the Bureau of Indian Affairs. They occupied the					
	building for one week and negotiated concessions with the government,					
	including hiring a Native American person to work at the Bureau of Indian					
	Affairs.					
1978	American Indian Religious Freedom Act grants Native Americans permission					
	to practice their own religion					
1996-	Cobell v. Salazar Settlement. A class action lawsuit brought against the U.S.					
2009	government for mismanagement of Indian Trust Funds. The plaintiffs were					
	awarded \$3.4 billion in the settlement.					

## Peer Best Practice Checklist ☐ Peers practice trauma informed services. ☐ Peers are cognizant of the U.S. history of the indigenous holocaust.

## Peers recognize the inherent continuum of Native American Recovery & Prevention

Two factors have been shown in research to be major antecedents to substance use disorders among Native Americans: 1) Early (ACES) and multigenerational historical trauma, and 2) Early onset substance use. Native American recovery activities differ from the dominant culture recovery community. Native American recovery events and activities typically include elders, families, and children. Recognition of early onset substance use, and prevention are a major part of the Native American peer recovery movement.

Genes that increase risk of substance misuse and related factors (e.g., tolerance, craving) are no more common in American Indians and Alaska Natives than in White Americans. Alcohol is the most misused substance among Native Americans, as well as among the general population. Many Native Americans do not drink at all, but binge drinking, and alcohol use disorder occur among native populations at relatively high rates. Native Americans start drinking and using other substances at younger ages compared to other major racial or ethnic groups. Early use of substances has been linked with greater risk for developing substance use disorders. Many Native American youth are introduced to substances by their adult caregivers. As a part of their own recovery journey, Native Americans in recovery from SUDs often feel a deep obligation to intervene on youth substance use.

#### **Peer Best Practice Checklist**

Peers understand that Native American recovery events and activities usually
include families and children.

#### Peers recognize that Native Americans are not Homogenous

There are over 600 Native American Tribes and clans in the Americas. Peers should not view Native Americans as homogeneous. Not all native cultures are the same. Similarities across native nations exist, but not all Native peoples have the same beliefs or traditions.

Native Americans are not homogenous. Peers should have respect for many paths to recovery within Native American cultures. There is no one right way. Providing direction on how something should be done is not a comfortable or customary practice for Native Americans. For them, healing is often intuitive; it is interconnected with others and comes from within, from ancestry, from stories, and from the environment. There are many paths to healing.

## Peer Best Practice Checklist ☐ Peers avoid stereotyping Native American culture and understand that Native Americans are not homogenous. ☐ Peers acknowledge many paths to recovery within diverse Native American cultures.

## Peers understand that urban Native Americans face unique challenges different than rural or sovereign nation tribal residents

More than 70% of U.S. Native Americans live in urban areas, many maintain strong ties to their home reservations, making frequent visits and moving back and forth from cities to tribal lands. Urban Native American clients may have become disconnected from their families and tribes. They may face challenges with housing and support for recovery.

Native Americans have a high rate of homelessness. In 2017, 3% of people entering homeless shelters were Native Americans, although they made up less than 2% of the general population. Native Americans who are housed are also more likely than the general population to live in overcrowded conditions or to lack kitchen facilities or complete plumbing. In part, this crowding may occur as a result of accepting relatives into the household who may not have housing.

Pee	Peer Best Practice Checklist				
	Peers are aware of the unique challenges facing urban Native Americans.				
	Peers are aware of and make referrals to housing/shelter near culturally				
	specific services.				
	Peers are aware of benefits/options of housing or culturally specific services				
	dedicated to Native Americans.				
	Peers advocate for culturally specific behavioral health services and recovery				
	housing for ethnic and racial minorities, including Native Americans.				
	Peers support Native American clients making reconnections with their families				
	and tribes.				

## Peers recognize shared Native American Values, Peer Values and Sovereignty

Peers recognize the shared values of Native Americans that are also common values within the peer support movement: acceptance of all including LGBTQ2AI persons, holistic wellness, safety, trustworthiness, transparency, collaboration, mutuality, talking circles, hope, advocacy, empowerment, recognition of trauma, voice, choice, self-determination, keeping confidences, opening prayers, spiritual ceremony, focus on the journey not the outcome, multiple pathways, focus on reflection vs. action, and being respectful in communication.

Peers recognize the shared values of Native Americans and the peer movement, including values that have been lost due to colonization. Native Americans have long practiced acceptance and inclusion within their tribes pre-colonization. Historically, many native tribes have accepted and honored lesbian, gay and transgendered tribal members as "two spirit" (Lokota winkte, Cheyenne hemaneh, Navajo nádleehí). In 1724, Joseph-François Lafitau wrote, "Among the Illinois, among the Sioux, in Louisiana, in Florida, and in the Yucatan, there are found youths who adopt the garb of women and preserve it all their lives, and who think themselves honored in stooping to all their occupations; they never marry; they take part in all ceremonies in which religion seems to be concerned; and this profession of an extraordinary life causes them to pass for beings of a superior order." However, after colonization and induction into Christianity and the military, more and more Native Americans adopted the values of colonization including becoming increasingly intolerant of LGBTQ2AI tribal members.

#### **Recognition of Sovereignty and Elders**

Peers honor the sovereignty and self-determination of Native Americans and their right to offer input regarding types of services their communities need and how to receive them. Such input helps match services to clients, increase community use of services, and use agency and tribal financial resources more efficiently. Tribal governments are sovereign nations. Each nation adopts its own tribal codes and has a unique history with the U.S. federal government. Peers in native and non-native programs need to understand the role of tribal sovereignty and governance systems in treatment referrals, planning, cooperative agreements, and program development.

Pee	Peer Best Practice Checklist					
	Peers honor the shared values of Native American culture and the modern day					
	peer movement.					
	Peers recognize the sovereignty and rights of self determination of Native					
	people.					
	Peers honor Native American lived experience and their input regarding the					
	nature of services delivered to Native Americans, their tribes and communities.					

#### Appendix #1

#### **Statistical Analysis of Best Practices**

The DACUM Workgroup developed the first draft of Native American SUD Peer Best Practices. These draft competencies were reviewed and rated by a SME group of experienced Native American peers. Best practices were evaluated for clarity, relevance, meaningfulness and accuracy.

Best Practice	Variance	Standard	Mean	Geometric Mean
		Deviation		
1	0.2	.447	4.8	4.78
2	0.7	.836	4.2	4.12
3	0.0	0.0	5.0	5.00
4	0.0	0.0	5.0	5.00
5	0.3	.547	4.6	4.57
6	0.2	.447	4.8	4.78
7	0.3	.547	4.6	4.57
8	0.0	0.0	5.0	5.00
9	0.0	0.0	5.0	5.00
10	0.2	.447	4.8	4.78

Best Practices 2, 5, and 7 presented the greatest variance and highest standard deviation in assessment and the lowest scores for clarity, relevance, meaningfulness and accuracy. These three Best Practices were re-reviewed by the DACUM SME Workgroup for further re-authoring.

This rating session was hosted by the Painted Horse Community Recovery Center.

#### Resources

- 1. Boys & Girls Clubs of America, Best Practices: Mentoring Native American Youth
- 2. Dyani Bingham, Allyson Kelley. (2022) <u>Rethinking Recovery: A Qualitative Study of American Indian Perspectives on Peer Recovery Support</u>. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse* 0:0, pages 1-14.
- 3. Kelley, Allyson & Bingham, Dyani & Brown, Erika & Pepion, Lita. (2017). Assessing the Impact of American Indian Peer Recovery Support on Substance Use and Health. Journal of Groups in Addiction & Recovery. 12. 296-308. 10.1080/1556035X.2017.1337531.
- 4. O'Keefe VM, Cwik MF, Haroz EE, Barlow A. Increasing culturally responsive care and mental health equity with indigenous community mental health workers. Psychol Serv. 2021 Feb;18(1):84-92. doi: 10.1037/ser0000358. Epub 2019 May 2. PMID: 31045405; PMCID: PMC6824928.
- 5. James K. Cunningham, Teshia A. Solomon, Myra L. Muramoto. Alcohol use among Native Americans compared to whites: Examining the veracity of the 'Native American elevated alcohol consumption' belief. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 2015; DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.12.015
- 6. Mary Hasbah Roessel, M.D., Working With Indigenous/Native American Patients, American Psychiatric Association https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/cultural-competency/education/best-practice-highlights/working-with-native-american-patients
- 7. Dickerson DL, Venner KL, Duran B, Annon JJ, Hale B, Funmaker G. Drum-Assisted Recovery Therapy for Native Americans (DARTNA): results from a pretest and focus groups. Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res. 2014;21(1):35-58. doi: 10.5820/aian.2101.2014.35. PMID: 24788920; PMCID: PMC6064638.
- 8. Dickerson D, Robichaud F, Teruya C, Nagaran K, Hser YI. Utilizing drumming for American Indians/Alaska Natives with substance use disorders: a focus group study. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2012 Sep;38(5):505-10. doi: 10.3109/00952990.2012.699565. PMID: 22931086; PMCID: PMC3725997.
- 9. Dickerson DL, Brown RA, Johnson CL, Schweigman K, D'Amico EJ. Integrating Motivational Interviewing and Traditional Practices to Address Alcohol and Drug Use Among Urban American Indian/Alaska Native Youth. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2016 Jun;65:26-35. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2015.06.023. Epub 2015 Jul 29. PMID: 26306776; PMCID: PMC4732924.
- 10. Moore LA, Aarons GA, Davis JH, Novins DK. How do providers serving American Indians and Alaska Natives with substance abuse problems define evidence-based treatment? Psychol Serv. 2015 May;12(2):92-100. doi: 10.1037/ser0000022. PMID: 25961645; PMCID: PMC4430337.
- 11. Novins DK, Croy CD, Moore LA, Rieckmann T. Use of evidence-based treatments in substance abuse treatment programs serving American Indian and Alaska Native communities. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2016 Apr 1;161:214-21. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.02.007. Epub 2016 Feb 10. PMID: 26898185; PMCID: PMC4817996.
- 12. Larios SE, Wright S, Jernstrom A, Lebron D, Sorensen JL. Evidence-based practices, attitudes, and beliefs in substance abuse treatment programs serving American Indians and Alaska Natives: a qualitative study. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2011 Oct-Dec;43(4):355-9. doi: 10.1080/02791072.2011.629159. PMID: 22400469; PMCID: PMC4760647.

- 13. Novins DK, Aarons GA, Conti SG, Dahlke D, Daw R, Fickenscher A, Fleming C, Love C, Masis K, Spicer P; Centers for American Indian and Alaska Native Health's Substance Abuse Treatment Advisory Board. Use of the evidence base in substance abuse treatment programs for American Indians and Alaska Natives: pursuing quality in the crucible of practice and policy. Implement Sci. 2011 Jun 16;6:63. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-63. PMID: 21679438; PMCID: PMC3145574.
- 14. Rieckmann T, Moore L, Croy C, Aarons GA, Novins DK. National Overview of Medication-Assisted Treatment for American Indians and Alaska Natives With Substance Use Disorders. Psychiatr Serv. 2017 Nov 1;68(11):1136-1143.
- 15. Leske S, Harris MG, Charlson FJ, Ferrari AJ, Baxter AJ, Logan JM, Toombs M, Whiteford H. Systematic review of interventions for Indigenous adults with mental and substance use disorders in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2016 Nov;50(11):1040-1054. doi: 10.1177/0004867416662150. Epub 2016 Aug 11. PMID: 27514405. Purcell-Khodr GC, Lee KSK, Conigrave JH, Webster E, Conigrave KM. What can primary care services do to help First Nations people with unhealthy alcohol use? A systematic review: Australia, New Zealand, USA and Canada. Addict Sci Clin Pract. 2020 Aug 18;15(1):31. doi: 10.1186/s13722-020-00204-8. PMID: 32811549; PMCID: PMC7437002.
- Serier KN, Venner KL, Sarafin RE. Evaluating the Validity of the DSM-5 Alcohol Use Disorder Diagnostic Criteria in a Sample of Treatment-seeking Native Americans. J Addict Med. 2019 Jan/Feb;13(1):35-40. doi: 10.1097/ADM.000000000000452. PMID: 30303888; PMCID: PMC6349507.
- 17. Whitesell NR, Beals J, Mitchell CM, Manson SM, Turner RJ; AI-SUPERPFP Team. Childhood exposure to adversity and risk of substance-use disorder in two American Indian populations: the meditational role of early substance-use initiation. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2009

  Nov;70(6):971-81. doi: 10.15288/jsad.2009.70.971. PMID: 19895776; PMCID: PMC2776127.
- 18. Kulis SS, Ayers SL, Harthun ML. Substance Use Prevention for Urban American Indian Youth: A Efficacy Trial of the Culturally Adapted Living in 2 Worlds Program. J Prim Prev. 2017 Apr;38(1-2):137-158. doi: 10.1007/s10935-016-0461-4. PMID: 27943031; PMCID: PMC5313372.
- 19. Boyd-Ball AJ, Dishion TJ, Myers MW, Light J. Predicting American Indian adolescent substance use trajectories following inpatient treatment. J Ethn Subst Abuse. 2011;10(3):181-201. doi: 10.1080/15332640.2011.600189. PMID: 21888498; PMCID: PMC4752201.
- Dickerson D, Moore LA, Rieckmann T, Croy CD, Venner K, Moghaddam J, Gueco R, Novins DK. Correlates of Motivational Interviewing Use Among Substance Use Treatment Programs Serving American Indians/Alaska Natives. J Behav Health Serv Res. 2018 Jan;45(1):31-45. doi: 10.1007/s11414-016-9549-0. PMID: 28236017; PMCID: PMC6054797.
- 21. Pearson CR, Kaysen D, Huh D, Bedard-Gilligan M. Randomized Control Trial of Culturally Adapted Cognitive Processing Therapy for PTSD Substance Misuse and HIV Sexual Risk Behavior for Native American Women. AIDS Behav. 2019 Mar;23(3):695-706. doi: 10.1007/s10461-018-02382-8. PMID: 30607757; PMCID: PMC6407746.
- 22. Donovan DM, Thomas LR, Sigo RL, Price L, Lonczak H, Lawrence N, Ahvakana K, Austin L, Lawrence A, Price J, Purser A, Bagley L. Healing of the canoe: preliminary results of a culturally tailored intervention to prevent substance abuse and promote tribal identity for Native youth in two Pacific Northwest tribes. Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res. 2015;22(1):42-76. doi: 10.5820/aian.2201.2015.42. PMID: 25768390; PMCID: PMC4374439.

- 23. Peterson S, Berkowitz G, Cart CU, Brindis C. Native American women in alcohol and substance abuse treatment. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2002 Aug;13(3):360-78. doi: 10.1353/hpu.2010.0688. PMID: 12152506.
- 24. Whitesell, Nancy & Beals, Janette & Mitchell, Christina & Novins, Douglas & Spicer, Paul & Manson, Spero. (2006). Latent class analysis of substance use: Comparison of two American Indian reservation populations and a national sample. Journal of studies on alcohol. 67. 32-43. 10.15288/jsa.2006.67.32.
- 25. Chen HJ, Balan S, Price RK. Association of contextual factors with drug use and binge drinking among White, Native American, and Mixed-Race adolescents in the general population. J Youth Adolesc. 2012 Nov;41(11):1426-41. doi: 10.1007/s10964-012-9789-0. Epub 2012 Jul 12. PMID: 22791181; PMCID: PMC3654517.
- 26. The Multicultural Wellbriety Peer Recovery Support Program: Two Decades of Community-Based Recovery David Moore PHD &Don Coyhis, Pages 273-292, 09 Jul 2010
- 27. Caroline M. Cruz, BS, CPS, Health and Human Services General Manager, Confederated Tribes of Warm Springs, Many Pathways to Follow: Tribal and Minority-based Practices
- 28. Nebelkopf E, King J, Wright S, Schweigman K, Lucero E, Habte-Michael T, Cervantes T. Growing roots: Native American evidence-based practices. Introduction. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2011 Oct-Dec;43(4):263-8. doi: 10.1080/02791072.2011.628909. PMID: 22400455.
- 29. Kelley A, Steinberg R, McCoy TP, Pack R, Pepion L. Exploring recovery: Findings from a six-year evaluation of an American Indian peer recovery support program. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2021 Apr 1;221:108559. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108559. Epub 2021 Jan 29. PMID: 33548899.
- 30. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Behavioral Health Services for American Indians and Alaska Natives. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series 61. HHS Publication No. (SMA) 18-
  - 5070EXSUMM. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2018.
- 31. Tonigan JS, Martinez-Papponi B, Hagler KJ, Greenfield BL, Venner KL. Longitudinal study of urban American Indian 12-step attendance, attrition, and outcome. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2013 Jul;74(4):514-20. doi: 10.15288/jsad.2013.74.514. PMID: 23739014; PMCID: PMC3711343.
- 32. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2018 Dec 28. Improving Care to Prevent Suicide Among People with Serious Mental Illness: Proceedings of a Workshop.